## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

## **FORM 10-Q**

# ☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

for the quarterly period ended October 1, 2005

OR

## o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

for the transition period from

to

**COMMISSION FILE NUMBER: 333-124824** 

## **RBC Bearings Incorporated**

(Exact name of registrants as specified in their charter)

Delaware

(State of incorporation)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Nos.)

One Tribology Center Oxford, CT 06478

(203) 267-7001

95-4372080

(Addresses of Principal Executive Offices, including Zip Code)

(Registrants' Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes  $\boxtimes$  No o

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes o No ⊠

As of November 10, 2005, RBC Bearings Incorporated had 16,474,256 shares of common stock outstanding.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

## Part I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

ITEM 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

## Part II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

ITEM 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

ITEM 5. Other Information

ITEM 6. Exhibits

2

## PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Financial Statements

RBC Bearings Incorporated Consolidated Balance Sheets (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

		2005 (Unaudited)		2005
ASSETS		(Chadarea)		
Current assets:				
Cash	\$	4,521	\$	2,635
Accounts receivable, net		47,860		53,967
Inventory		103,730		95,654
Deferred income taxes		10,800		4,509
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		3,805		2,226
Total current assets		170,716	_	158,991
Property, plant and equipment, net		57,449		55,343
Goodwill		25,150		25,150
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of \$1,233 at October 1, 2005 and \$949 at April 2, 2005		4,547		3,333
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of \$895 at October 1, 2005 and \$1,280 at April 2,		7,577		5,555
2005		4,607		4,755
Other assets		2,183		2,597
Total assets	\$	264,652	\$	250,169
10tal 635Ct5	Ф	204,032	Ф	230,109
LADIA MENERAND CITACONNAL DEDON FOLLOWING (DEFECTE)				
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)				
Current liabilities:	ф	16.010	ф	10.242
Accounts payable	\$	16,910	\$	19,243
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		10,924		10,621
Current portion of long-term debt		3,422		8,245
Capital lease obligations		187		226
Total current liabilities		31,443		38,335
Long-term debt, less current portion		168,066		211,834
Capital lease obligations, less current portion		263		205
Other non-current liabilities		9,107		7,554
Total liabilities		208,879		257,928
Stockholders' equity (deficit):				
Class A preferred stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 15,500 at April 2, 2005; none at October 1, 2005;				
none issued and outstanding		_		_
Class B exchangeable convertible participating preferred stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 240,000				
at April 2, 2005; none at October 1, 2005; issued and outstanding shares: 240,000 at April 2, 2005		_		2
Class C redeemable preferred stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 900,000 at April 2, 2005; none at				
October 1, 2005; none issued and outstanding		_		_
Class D preferred stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 240,000 at April 2, 2005; none at October 1,				
2005; none issued and outstanding		_		_
Class A voting common stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 20,000,000 at April 2, 2005; none at				
October 1, 2005; issued and outstanding shares: 6,202,519 at April 2, 2005		_		62
Class B super voting common stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 2,500,000 at April 2, 2005; none at				
October 1, 2005; issued and outstanding shares: 250 at April 2, 2005		_		_
Common Stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares: 60,000,000 at October 1, 2005; issued and outstanding				
shares: 16,468,006 at October 1, 2005		165		_
Additional paid-in capital		97,221		34,252
Deferred compensation		(223)		(349)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(3,581)		(2,532)
Accumulated deficit		(37,809)		(39,194)
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)		55,773		(7,759)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)	\$	264,652	\$	250,169
und stockmondete equity (desirency	Ψ	207,002	Ψ	200,100

See accompanying notes.

3

## RBC Bearings Incorporated Consolidated Statements of Operations (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data) (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended				ed			
	October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004	_	October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004
\$	65,367	\$	56,391	\$	131,368	\$	112,586
	45,380		41,010		92,105		81,912
	19,987		15,381		39,263		30,674
	14,628		7,606		23,122		15,220
	266		415		650		2,178
	14,894		8,021		23,772		17,398
	5,093		7,360		15,491		13,276
	\$	October 1, 2005 \$ 65,367 45,380 19,987 14,628 266 14,894	October 1, 2005 \$ 65,367 \$ 45,380 19,987 14,628 266 14,894	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004           \$ 65,367         \$ 56,391           45,380         41,010           19,987         15,381           14,628         7,606           266         415           14,894         8,021	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004           \$ 65,367         \$ 56,391           45,380         41,010           19,987         15,381           14,628         7,606           266         415           14,894         8,021	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004         October 1, 2005           \$ 65,367         \$ 56,391         \$ 131,368           45,380         41,010         92,105           19,987         15,381         39,263           14,628         7,606         23,122           266         415         650           14,894         8,021         23,772	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004         October 1, 2005           \$ 65,367         \$ 56,391         \$ 131,368         \$ 45,380           45,380         41,010         92,105           19,987         15,381         39,263           14,628         7,606         23,122           266         415         650           14,894         8,021         23,772

Interest expense, net	4,475	4,873	9,604	9,952
Loss on early extinguishment of debt	3,771	12	3,771	6,956
Other non-operating expense	_	6	_	7
Income (loss) before income taxes	 (3,153)	 2,469	2,116	 (3,639)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	(1,193)	801	731	(1,485)
Net income (loss)	 (1,960)	1,668	1,385	(2,154)
Preferred stock dividends	(294)	(564)	(893)	(1,117)
Participation rights of preferred stock in undistributed earnings	_	(254)	(630)	(254)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders	\$ (2,254)	\$ 850	\$ (138)	\$ (3,525)
				•
Net income (loss) per common share:				
Basic	\$ (0.18)	\$ 0.14	\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.57)
Diluted	\$ (0.18)	\$ 80.0	\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.57)
Weighted average common shares:				
Basic	12,197,773	6,188,903	9,200,270	6,188,903
Diluted	12,197,773	10,837,988	9,200,270	6,188,903

See accompanying notes.

4

## RBC Bearings Incorporated Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (dollars in thousands) (Unaudited)

	Six Month October 1, 2005			os Ended October 2, 2004	
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net income (loss)	\$	1,385	\$	(2,154)	
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:					
Depreciation		4,497		4,667	
Deferred income taxes		731		(804)	
Amortization of intangible assets		284		231	
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount		456		656	
Amortization of deferred stock compensation		142		144	
Loss on disposition of assets		30		1,841	
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (non-cash portion)		1,536		4,303	
Other		6		8	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:					
Accounts receivable		5,459		(2,113)	
Inventory		(8,256)		(3,254)	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		(1,003)		(736)	
Other non-current assets		253		(194)	
Accounts payable		(2,333)		3,438	
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		(414)		(3,375)	
Other non-current liabilities		495		(93)	
Net cash provided by operating activities		3,268		2,565	
Cash flows from investing activities:					
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		(5,859)		(3,900)	
Acquisition of business		(2,602)		_	
Proceeds from sale of assets		27		_	
Net cash used in investing activities		(8,434)		(3,900)	
Cash flows from financing activities:					
Net decrease in revolving credit facility		(F 000)		(C0)	
		(5,000) 92,128		(68)	
Net proceeds from sale of common stock in initial public offering		,			
Redemption of Class C redeemable preferred stock		(30,630)			
Redemption of Class D preferred stock		(4,000)			
Exercise of stock options and warrants		59 —		(110,000)	
Retirement of senior subordinated notes				(110,000)	
Proceeds from term loans		41,100 (45,000)		155,000	
Retirement of term loans				(40,000)	
Retirement of Senior Subordinated Discount Debentures		(38,562)		(4.550)	
Payments of bank term loan		(1,338)		(1,552)	
Principal payments on capital lease obligations		(91)		(134)	
Financing fees paid in connection with senior credit facility		(1,312)		(4,500)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		7,354		(1,254)	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash		(302)		269	

Cash and cash equivalents:		
Increase (decrease) during the period	1,886	(2,320)
Cash, at beginning of period	2,635	3,250
Cash, at end of period	\$ 4,521	\$ 930
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:		
Cash paid during the period for:		
Interest	\$ 10,552	\$ 11,303
Income taxes	\$ 874	\$ 183
See accompanying notes.		
5		
3		

## RBC Bearings Incorporated Notes to Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

The consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by RBC Bearings Incorporated, a Delaware corporation (collectively with its subsidiaries, the "Company"), without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The fiscal year end balance sheet data have been derived from the Company's audited financial statements, but do not include all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The interim financial statements furnished with this report have been prepared on a consistent basis with the Company's audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Form S-1 for the fiscal year ended April 2, 2005, initially filed on May 11, 2005, as amended (the "Form S-1").

As previously disclosed on Form 8-K filed by the Company on August 15, 2005, on August 15, 2005, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Merrill Lynch & Co., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, KeyBanc Capital Markets and Jefferies & Company, Inc., the Company and the selling stockholders sold 10,531,200 shares of the Company's common stock (see Note 13).

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RBC Bearings Incorporated, Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. ("RBCA") and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Industrial Tectonics Bearings Corporation ("ITB"), RBC Linear Precision Products, Inc. ("LPP"), RBC Nice Bearings, Inc. ("Nice"), RBC Precision Products - Bremen, Inc. ("Miller"), RBC Precision Products - Plymouth, Inc. ("Bremen"), Tyson Bearings, Inc. ("Tyson"), Schaublin Holdings S.A. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries ("Schaublin"), RBC de Mexico ("Mexico"), RBC Oklahoma, Inc. ("RBC Oklahoma"), RBC Aircraft Products, Inc. ("API"), and RBC Southwest Products, Inc. ("SWP") as well as its Transport Dynamics ("TDC"), Heim ("Heim"), Engineered Components ("ECD") and U.S. Bearings ("USB") divisions. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

These statements reflect all adjustments, consisting only of items of a normal recurring nature, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair presentation of the consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations for the interim periods presented. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Form S-1.

The Company operates in four reportable business segments—roller bearings, plain bearings, ball bearings, other and corporate—in which it manufactures roller bearing components and assembled parts and designs and manufactures high-precision roller and ball bearings. The Company sells to a wide variety of original equipment manufacturers ("OEMs") and distributors who are widely dispersed geographically.

The results of operations for the three month and six month periods ended October 1, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full year. Amounts shown are in thousands, unless otherwise indicated.

## 1. Acquisition

Effective September 2, 2005, SWP purchased certain assets of the Southwest Products Company, a manufacturer of spherical bearings, journal bearings, and push-pull controls for military weapon systems and military and commercial aerospace applications located in Irwindale, California. The total consideration paid was approximately \$2,602. The products associated with the acquisition are complementary with products already provided by other Company businesses. Southwest Products Company will be included in the plain bearings reportable segment.

6

## 2. Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders (both Class A and Class B common stockholders share equally in net income (loss)) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Prior to August 15, 2005, the Company also had outstanding Class B convertible participating preferred stock (the Class B preferred stock participated in all undistributed earnings with the common stock). The Company allocated earnings to the common stockholders and the Class B convertible participating preferred stockholders under the two-class method as required by Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 03-6, "Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128." The two-class method is an earnings allocation method under which basic net income per share is calculated for the Company's common stock and its Class B convertible participating preferred stock considering both accrued preferred stock dividends and participation rights in undistributed earnings as if all such earnings had been distributed during the year. Since the Company's Class B convertible participating preferred stock was not contractually responsible to share in the Company's losses, in applying the two-class method to compute basic net income per common share, no allocation was made to the Class B preferred stock if a net loss existed or if an undistributed net loss resulted from reducing net income by the accrued preferred stock dividends.

Diluted net income (loss) per common share for the common stock is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares, dilutive common share equivalents then outstanding using the treasury stock method and, prior to August 15, 2005, the assumed conversion of the Class B convertible participating preferred stock to common shares (if-converted method). If the if-converted method was anti-dilutive (that is, the if-converted method resulted in a higher net income per common share amount than basic net income per share calculated under the two-class method), then the two-class method was used to compute diluted net income (loss) per common share, including the effect of common share equivalents. Common share equivalents consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants.

If the above calculations resulted in a net loss available to common stockholders (due to a net loss for the period or the effect of accrued preferred stock dividends) and if the effect of including common share equivalents and the assumed conversion of preferred stock, or use of the two-class method, was anti-dilutive, then diluted net loss per common share would equal basic net loss per common share.

7

The table below reflects the calculation of weighted-average shares outstanding for each period presented as well as the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share:

Three Months Ended				Six Months Ended			
	October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004		October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004
							,
\$	(1,960)	\$	1,668	\$	1,385	\$	(2,154)
	(294)		(564)		(893)		(1,117)
	_		(254)		(630)		(254)
	(2,254)		850		(138)		(3,525)
	294		818		1 523		1,371
	234		010		1,525		1,571
\$	(1,960)	\$	1,668	\$	1,385	\$	(2,154)
					-,, -		6,188,903
	1,994,169		2,802,690		1,943,765		2,798,609
	771,022		1,846,395		1,308,709		1,846,395
	14,962,964		10,837,988		12,452,744		10,833,907
\$	(0.18)	\$	0.14	\$	(0.01)	\$	(0.57)
\$	(0.18)	\$	0.08	\$	(0.01)	\$	(0.57)
	\$	\$ (1,960) (294)  (2,254) 294  \$ (1,960)  \$ (1,960)  \$ (1,960)  12,197,773 1,994,169 771,022  14,962,964  \$ (0.18)	\$ (1,960) \$ (294)	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004           \$ (1,960)         \$ 1,668           (294)         (564)           — (254)         (254)           \$ (2,254)         850           294         818           \$ (1,960)         \$ 1,668           \$ (1,960)         \$ 2,802,690           771,022         1,846,395           14,962,964         10,837,988           \$ (0.18)         \$ 0.14	October 1, 2005       October 2, 2004         \$ (1,960)       \$ 1,668         (294)       (564)         — (254)       (254)         \$ (2,254)       850         294       818         \$ (1,960)       \$ 1,668         \$ (1,960)       \$ 1,668         \$ (2,254)       \$ 2,802,690         12,197,773       6,188,903         1,994,169       2,802,690         771,022       1,846,395         14,962,964       10,837,988         \$ (0.18)       \$ 0.14	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004         October 1, 2005           \$ (1,960)         \$ 1,668         \$ 1,385           (294)         (564)         (893)           — (254)         (630)           (2,254)         850         (138)           294         818         1,523           \$ (1,960)         \$ 1,668         \$ 1,385           \$ (1,960)         \$ 2,802,690         1,943,765           1,994,169         2,802,690         1,943,765           771,022         1,846,395         1,308,709           14,962,964         10,837,988         12,452,744           \$ (0.18)         \$ 0.14         \$ (0.01)	October 1, 2005         October 2, 2004         October 1, 2005           \$ (1,960)         \$ 1,668         \$ 1,385         \$ (294)           — (254)         (630)         —           — (254)         (630)         —           294         818         1,523           \$ (1,960)         \$ 1,668         \$ 1,385         \$           \$ (1,960)         \$ 2,802,690         1,943,765         \$           1,994,169         2,802,690         1,943,765         \$           771,022         1,846,395         1,308,709         \$           14,962,964         10,837,988         12,452,744         \$           \$ (0.18)         \$ 0.14         \$ (0.01)         \$

<sup>\*</sup> Through August 15, 2005 (see Note 13).

8

## 3. Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out method, and are summarized below:

	_	October 1, 2005	 April 2, 2005
Raw materials	\$	7,353	\$ 5,598
Work in process		27,758	27,959
Finished goods		68,619	62,097
	\$	103,730	\$ 95,654

### 4. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of comprehensive income (loss) that relate to the Company are net income (loss), foreign currency translation adjustments and pension plan additional minimum liability. Total comprehensive income (loss) is as follows:

Three Mont	hs Ended	Six Mont	hs Ended
October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004	October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004

<sup>\*\*</sup> Since the Company's Class B convertible participating preferred stock was not contractually responsible to share in the Company's losses, in applying the two-class method to compute basic net income per common share, no allocation was made to the Class B preferred stock if an undistributed net loss resulted from reducing net income by the preferred stock dividends.

Net income (loss)	\$ (1,960) \$	1,668	\$ 1,385	\$ (2,154)
Foreign currency translation adjustments	(20)	154	(637)	269
Minimum pension liability	_	_	(412)	_
Total comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (1,980) \$	1,822	\$ 336	\$ (1,885)

### 5. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for options and warrants granted to employees using the intrinsic value method pursuant to APB No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," under which compensation cost is recognized only if the exercise price of grants issued is below the fair market value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant. Had compensation cost for these grants been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates consistent with SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," the Company's net income (loss) would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts:

9

		Three Mon	ths E	nded	Six Months Ended			
		October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004		October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004
Net income (loss), as reported	\$	(1,960)	\$	1,668	\$	1,385	\$	(2,154)
Plus: stock-based compensation expense included in reported net								
income (loss), net of tax		37		43		93		85
Less: stock-based compensation expense determined under fair								
value method, net of tax		(1,145)		(34)		(1,236)		(58)
Pro forma net income (loss)	\$	(3,068)	\$	1,677	\$	242	\$	(2,127)
	_		_					
Net income (loss) per common share, as reported:								
Basic	\$	(0.18)	\$	0.14	\$	(0.01)	\$	(0.57)
Diluted	\$	(0.18)	\$	0.08	\$	(0.01)	\$	(0.57)
		Ì				, ,		
Net income (loss) per common share, pro forma:								
Basic	\$	(0.28)	\$	0.14	\$	(0.14)	\$	(0.57)
Diluted	\$	(0.28)	\$	0.08	\$	(0.14)	\$	(0.57)

The fair value for the Company's options and warrants was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions.

	Three Months	Ended .	Six Months	Ended
	October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004	October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004
Dividend yield	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Expected weighted-average life	7.0	3.0	7.0	3.0
Risk-free interest rate	3.5%	3.5%	3.5%	3.5%
Expected volatility	0.3%	0.1%	0.4%	0.1%

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options and warrants which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option and warrant valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because our warrants have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and warrants, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its options and warrants.

## 6. Debt

On June 29, 2004, the Company closed a \$210,000 debt refinancing agreement (the "Credit Facility") led and arranged by General Electric Capital Corporation. The agreement provided a \$55,000 revolving credit agreement (the "Revolving Credit Facility"), a \$110,000 term loan (the "Term Loan"), and a \$45,000 second lien term loan (the "SCIL Loan"). Each loan was secured by a lien against substantially all of the assets of the Company and subjected the Company to standard affirmative and negative covenants, as well as financial leverage tests. The proceeds were used to refinance the then existing senior credit facility and to redeem outstanding debt. Most notably, concurrently with funding, the Company issued a notice of redemption to the noteholders of the  $9 \, ^5 z_8 \, ^6$  Senior Subordinated Notes

10

issued pursuant to an indenture and due June 15, 2007. The requisite funds, approximately \$113,000 (101.6041% of the principal amount), were irrevocably put on deposit with the trustee, Bank of New York, for redemption on July 29, 2004. This amount included a redemption premium of \$1,765 that was recorded as a loss on extinguishment of debt, as was \$4,297 in unamortized deferred finance fees associated with this debt and \$882 in interest expense during the call period. Deferred finance fees of \$4,516 were capitalized associated with the new debt refinancing arrangement.

The Revolving Credit Facility bore interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points, plus 1.75%; or LIBOR plus 3.00%. The Company had the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility. The Term Loan bore interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points, plus 2.50%; or LIBOR plus 3.75%. The Company had the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the Term Loan. The SCIL Loan bore interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points, plus 7.25%; or LIBOR plus 8.50%. The Company had the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the SCIL Loan.

On August 15, 2005, the Company entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Amended Credit Agreement"), among RBCA; the other Credit Parties signatory thereto; General Electric Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation, for itself, as lender, and as agent for the lenders, concurrently with the closing of the Company's initial public offering. Pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company increased its term loan borrowings by approximately \$40,000 from \$110,000 under the term loan portion of the Amended Credit Agreement. The Amended Credit Agreement provides a \$55,000 revolving credit agreement (the "Amended Revolving Credit Facility") and a \$150,000 term loan (the "Amended Term Loan"). The principal amount of the Amended Term Loan will be repaid in twenty-five (25) consecutive quarterly installments commencing October 1, 2005. Each loan is secured by a lien against substantially all of the assets of the Company and subjects the Company to standard affirmative and negative covenants, as well as financial leverage tests. As of October 1, 2005, we were in compliance with all such covenants.

The Amended Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points, plus 1.25%; or LIBOR plus 2.50%. The Company has the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Term Loan bears interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal rate plus 50 basis points, plus 1.50%; or LIBOR plus 2.75%. The Company has the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the Amended Term Loan. As of October 1, 2005, the weighted average interest rate on the outstanding Amended Credit Facility was 6.45%.

Approximately \$20,552 of the Amended Revolving Credit Facility is being utilized to provide letters of credit to secure RBCA's obligations relating to certain Industrial Development Revenue Bonds and insurance programs. As of October 1, 2005, the Company had the ability to borrow up to an additional \$34,447 under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility.

The proceeds of the initial public offering and additional term loan borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement were used to redeem outstanding debt. Concurrently with the funding, the Company issued a notice of redemption to the note holders of the 13% Senior Subordinated Discount Debentures due June 15, 2009. The requisite funds, approximately \$40,235, were irrevocably put on deposit with the trustee, Bank of New York, for redemption and were subsequently redeemed on September 13, 2005. This amount included a redemption premium of \$1,253, a prepayment fee of \$3, and interest expense for the call period of \$418. These amounts along with \$851 of unamortized deferred finance fees and debt discount associated with this debt were recorded as a loss on extinguishment of

11

debt. The Company also repaid approximately \$45,479 on its SCIL loan, representing all of the outstanding balance under such loan. This amount included a pre-payment fee of \$450 and expenses of \$29. These amounts along with \$767 of unamortized deferred finance fees associated with the SCIL debt were recorded as a loss in extinguishment of debt. Deferred financing fees of \$1,312 were capitalized associated with the Amended Credit Agreement.

The balances payable under all borrowing facilities are as follows:

	(	October 1, 2005	April 2, 2005
13% Senior Subordinated Discount Debentures	\$	_	\$ 37,949
Credit Facility			
Term Loan (replaced with Amended Credit Agreement)		_	109,175
SCIL Loan (paid as discussed above)		_	45,000
Revolving Credit Facility (replaced with Amended Credit Agreement)		_	5,000
Amended Credit Agreement			
Amended Term Loan, payable in quarterly installments of \$375, commencing October 1, 2005, with final payment of \$141,375 due July 1, 2011; bears interest at variable rates, payable monthly and upon maturity		450,000	
at prime or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin, at the Company's election		150,000	_
Amended Revolving Credit Facility; bears interest at variable rates, payable monthly and upon maturity at			
prime or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin, at the Company's election		_	_
Swiss Credit Facility			
Term Loan, payable in semi-annual installments ranging from approximately \$400, commencing March 31, 2004, to approximately \$1,000 from September 30, 2005, with final payment due March 31, 2009; bears			
interest at variable rates, plus an applicable margin, payable quarterly		4,830	6,233
Other Loans		3	67
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds			
Series 1994 A, due in annual installments of \$180 beginning September 1, 2006, graduating to \$815 on September 1, 2014, with final payment due on September 1, 2017; bears interest at a variable rate, payable			
monthly through December 2017		7,700	\$ 7,700
Series 1994 B, bears interest at a variable rate, payable monthly through December 2017		3,000	3,000
Series 1998, bears interest at variable rates, payable monthly through December 2021.		1,155	1,155
Series 1999, bearing interest at variable rates, payable monthly through April 2024		4,800	4,800
Total Debt		171,488	 220,079
Less: Current Portion		3,422	8,245
Long-Term Debt	\$	168,066	\$ 211,834

The current portion of long-term debt as of October 1, 2005 and April 2, 2005 includes \$0 and \$5,000, respectively, of borrowings on the revolving credit facilities.

During the six month period ended October 1, 2005 and October 2, 2004, the Company had a non-cash charge of \$30 and \$1,618, respectively, on the loss on sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment related to the consolidation of production lines and outsourcing certain components to low-cost producers.

#### 8. Income Taxes

The effective income tax rates for the three month periods ended October 1, 2005 and October 2, 2004 were 37.8% and 32.4%, respectively. The effective income tax rates for the six month periods ended October 1, 2005 and October 2, 2004 were 34.5% and 40.8%, respectively.

The change in the effective income tax rates from period to period is mostly due to changes in the allocation between domestic and foreign earnings, primarily the result of the loss on early extinguishment of debt and the one-time special cash bonus (see Note 11).

### 9. Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Company has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering union employees in its Heim division plant in Fairfield, Connecticut, its Nice subsidiary plant in Kulpsville, Pennsylvania, its Bremen subsidiary plant in Plymouth, Indiana and its Tyson subsidiary plant in Glasgow, Kentucky.

The following tables illustrate the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Company's pension and other postretirement benefits.

Dancian Ranafite

Dancian Ranafite

	Three Months Ended Six Months Ended									
		October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004			October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004			
Components of net periodic benefit cost:	_									
Service cost	\$	144	\$	127	\$	288	\$	254		
Interest cost		246		236		492		472		
Expected return on plan assets		(283)		(243)		(566)		(486)		
Amortization of losses		62		65		124		129		
Total net periodic benefit cost	\$	169	\$	185	\$	338	\$	369		
		Other Postretirement Benefits Three Months Ended					Other Postretirement Benefits Six Months Ended			
		October 1, October 2, 2005 2004				October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004			
Components of net periodic benefit cost:										
Service cost	\$	56	\$	56	\$	112	\$	112		
Interest cost		62		62		124		124		
Prior service cost amortization		(105)		(105)		(210)		(210)		
Amount of loss recognized		41		41		82		82		
Total net periodic benefit cost	\$	54	\$	54	\$	108	\$	108		
		13								

## 10. Reportable Segments

The Company operates through operating segments for which separate financial information is available, and for which operating results are evaluated regularly by the Company's chief operating decision maker in determining resource allocation and assessing performance. Those operating segments with similar economic characteristics and that meet all other required criteria, including nature of the products and production processes, distribution patterns and classes of customers, are aggregated as reportable segments. Certain other operating segments do not exhibit the common attributes mentioned above and do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate disclosure, and their information is combined and disclosed as "Other". There is also a segment reflecting corporate charges.

The Company has four reportable business segments engaged in the manufacture and sale of the following:

**Roller Bearings.** Roller bearings are anti-friction bearings that use rollers instead of balls. The Company manufactures four basic types of roller bearings: heavy duty needle roller bearings with inner rings, tapered roller bearings, track rollers and aircraft roller bearings.

**Plain Bearings.** Plain bearings are produced with either self-lubricating or metal-to-metal designs and consist of several sub-classes, including rod end bearings, spherical plain bearings and journal bearings. Unlike ball bearings, which are used in high-speed rotational applications, plain bearings are primarily used to rectify inevitable misalignments in various mechanical components.

*Ball Bearings.* The Company manufactures four basic types of ball bearings: high precision aerospace, airframe control, thin section and commercial ball bearings which are used in high-speed rotational applications.

**Other.** Other consists of two minor operating locations that do not fall into the above segmented categories. The Company produces precision ground ball bearing screws at its Linear Precision Products (LPP) plant that offer repeatable positioning accuracy in machine tools, transfer lines, robotic handling and semiconductor equipment. The Company's Schaublin location produces precision machine tool collets that provide effective part holding and accurate part location during machining operations.

*Corporate.* Corporate consists of expenses incurred at the corporate office.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment net sales and operating income. Items not allocated to segment operating income include corporate administrative expenses and certain other amounts.

		Three Months Ended				Six Months Ended			
		October 1, 2005		October 2, 2004	_	October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004		
Net External Sales									
Roller	\$	23,396	\$	21,595	\$	47,820	\$	43,612	
Plain		27,132		22,445		53,577		43,937	
Ball		11,208		8,914		21,824		18,023	
Other		3,631		3,437		8,147		7,014	
	\$	65,367	\$	56,391	\$	131,368	\$	112,586	
Operating Income									
Roller	\$	5,916	\$	3,930	\$	11,195	\$	6,879	
Plain		7,519		5,408		14,173		10,869	
Ball		2,411		1,844		4,896		3,234	
Other		264		(90)		815		252	
Corporate		(11,017)		(3,732)		(15,588)		(7,958)	
	\$	5,093	\$	7,360	\$	15,491	\$	13,276	
Geographic External Sales									
Domestic	\$	58,753	\$	50,203	\$	117,575	\$	100,493	
Foreign		6,614		6,188		13,793		12,093	
	\$	65,367	\$	56,391	\$	131,368	\$	112,586	
Intersegment Sales									
Roller	\$	2,341	\$	1,975	\$	4,402	\$	3,355	
Plain		211		617		427		1,205	
Ball		1,593		972		2,659		1,789	
Other		3,326		2,138		6,397		4,704	
	\$	7,471	\$	5,702	\$	13,885	\$	11,053	

All intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidation.

## 11. Related Party Transactions

In June 1997, the Company loaned Dr. Michael J. Hartnett, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, \$500 to purchase shares of capital stock of the Company. This loan was repaid to the Company on August 15, 2005.

On June 13, 2005, subject to the approval of the Company's senior lenders under the Credit Facility and Second Lien Term Loan, which was subsequently obtained, the Board of Directors agreed to pay the CEO a one-time special cash bonus of \$5,200 to reimburse the CEO for taxes owed by him in connection with a previous stock sale by the CEO to Whitney. The Company's senior lenders approved the payment on July 13, 2005. As such, the Company recorded a charge of \$5,200 (classified as selling, general and administrative expense) in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. In connection with such transaction, the Company will receive a tax deduction of approximately \$5,200.

15

## 12. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4." The amendments made by SFAS No. 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and require the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The guidance is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. It is not believed that the adoption of SFAS No. 151 will have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment." SFAS No. 123(R) will require that the compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in financial statements. That cost will be measured based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. SFAS No. 123(R) covers a wide range of share-based compensation arrangements including share options, restricted share plans, performance-based awards, share appreciation rights, and employee share purchase plans. SFAS No. 123(R) replaces FASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees." SFAS No. 123, as originally issued in 1995, established as preferable a fair value-based method of accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees. However, that Statement permitted entities the option of continuing to apply the guidance in APB Opinion No. 25, as long as the footnotes to financial statements disclosed what net income would have been had the preferable fair value-based method been used. Public entities are required to apply SFAS No. 123(R) as of the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005. SFAS No. 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods:

- 1. A "modified prospective" method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date.
- 2. A "modified retrospective" method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method described above, but also permits entities to restate, based on the amount previously recognized under SFAS No. 123 for purpose of pro forma disclosures, either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

The Company is required to adopt the pronouncement in fiscal 2007 and is currently evaluating these transition methods and determining the effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations and whether the adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123. For fiscal 2006, the Company will continue to disclose stock-based compensation information in accordance with SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123," and SFAS No. 123.

16

### 13. Initial Public Offering, Debt Refinancing and Other Transactions

On August 2, 2005, the Company's Board of Directors approved a 5-for-2 stock split of its common stock. All share and per share information in the consolidated financial statements has been retroactively restated to reflect the stock split for all periods presented.

On August 15, 2005, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Merrill Lynch & Co., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, KeyBanc Capital Markets and Jefferies & Company, Inc., the Company and the selling stockholders sold 10,531,200 shares of the Company's common stock (3,496,684 sold by the selling stockholders). The offering yielded aggregate net proceeds to the Company of \$92,128 after payment of the underwriting discount and offering expenses. After redemption of the Company's Class C and Class D preferred stock for \$34,630, the net proceeds to the Company were \$57,498. Immediately prior to the consummation of the initial public offering, all outstanding shares of Class B preferred stock were converted in accordance with their terms into 1,846,396 shares of Class A common stock, 306,298 shares of Class C preferred stock and 240,000 shares of Class D preferred stock. All shares of Class C and Class D preferred stock were redeemed with cash or common stock as described in the subsequent paragraph and all shares of Class A and Class B common stock were reclassified as common stock on a one-for-one basis. In connection with the initial public offering, the Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "Amendment"). The Amendment increased the Company's authorized capital stock to 70,000,000 shares, (i) 60,000,000 of which is common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, and (ii) 10,000,000 of which is preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share.

The proceeds of the offering and additional term loan borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement (as discussed in Note 6) were used as follows: (1) to redeem all of the Company's outstanding 13% Discount Debentures by payment to the Bank of New York, as trustee for the holders of debentures, of a total payoff amount of approximately \$40,000; (2) to redeem 293,536 shares of Class C Preferred Stock held by Whitney RBCH Investor, LLC ("Whitney") for an aggregate redemption price of \$29,354; (3) to redeem 12,762 shares of Class C Preferred Stock held by Dr. Michael Hartnett for an aggregate redemption price of \$1,276; (4) to repurchase 230,000 shares of Class D Preferred Stock held by Whitney for an aggregate repurchase price of \$7,667, of which \$3,833 was paid in cash out of the proceeds of the offering and term loan borrowings and the balance of which was paid by issuance of 264,368 shares of Common Stock; (5) to repurchase 10,000 shares of Class D Preferred Stock held by Hartnett for an aggregate repurchase price of \$333, of which \$167 was paid in cash out of the proceeds of the offering and term loan borrowings, and the balance of which was paid by issuance of 11,495 shares of Common Stock; (6) to repay approximately \$45,500 of indebtedness under the Company's second lien term loan credit facility, which represented repayment in full of all amounts owing under such facility, plus approximately \$1,400 in fees and expenses in connection with such repayment and amendment; (7) to pay approximately \$5,000 in mandatory prepayments under the Company's credit facility in connection with the initial public offering; and (8) to pay \$2,732 in legal, printing, accounting and other miscellaneous expenses payable in connection with the initial public offering.

In addition, the Company paid monitoring fees of approximately \$50 and expense reimbursements of approximately \$12 pursuant to the Management Agreement with an affiliate of Whitney, and upon such payment the Management Agreement was terminated.

17

## ITEM 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

## **Forward-Looking Statements**

The information in this discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which are subject to the "safe harbor" created by those sections. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects and plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements as the term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

The words "anticipates", "believes", "estimates", "expects", "intends", "may", "plans", "projects", "will", "would" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements that we make. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, the risks outlined under the heading "Risk Factors" set forth in the Company's registration statement on Form S-1 initially filed on May 11, 2005, as amended. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make. We do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

## Overview

We are a well known international manufacturer of highly engineered precision plain, roller and ball bearings. Our precision solutions are integral to the manufacture and operation of most machines and mechanical systems, reduce wear to moving parts, facilitate proper power transmission and reduce damage and energy loss caused by friction. While we manufacture products in all major bearing categories, we focus primarily on the higher end of the bearing market where we believe our value added manufacturing and engineering capabilities enable us to differentiate ourselves from our competitors and enhance profitability. We have been providing bearing solutions to our customers since 1919. Over the past ten years, under the leadership of our current management team, we have significantly broadened our end markets, products, customer base and geographic reach. We currently operate 16 manufacturing facilities in three countries.

### Outlook

Backlog as of October 1, 2005 was \$152.6 million versus \$124.3 million for the same period last year. We continue to see positive momentum from the diversified industrial, aerospace, and defense markets. We believe that operating cash flows and available credit under our new amended senior revolving credit facility will provide adequate resources to fund internal and external growth initiatives for the foreseeable future.

## **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth the various components of our consolidated statements of operations, expressed as a percentage of net sales, for the periods indicated that are used in connection with the discussion herein.

	Three-Months	Ended	Six Months Ended			
	October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004	October 1, 2005	October 2, 2004		
Statement of Operations Data:						
Net sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%		
Gross margin	30.6	27.3	29.9	27.2		
Selling, general and administrative	22.4	13.5	17.6	13.5		
Other, net	0.4	0.7	0.5	1.9		
Operating income	7.8	13.1	11.8	11.8		
Interest expense, net	6.8	8.7	7.3	8.8		
Loss on early extinguishment of debt	5.8	_	2.9	6.2		
Other non-operating expense	<del>_</del>	_	_	_		
Income (loss) before income taxes	(4.8)	4.4	1.6	(3.2)		
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	(1.8)	1.4	0.5	(1.3)		
Net income (loss)	(3.0)	3.0	1.1	(1.9)		

## Three Month Period Ended October 1, 2005 Compared to Three Month Period Ended October 2, 2004

Net Sales. Our net sales for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 were \$65.4 million, an increase of \$9.0 million, or 15.9%, compared to \$56.4 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. During the three month period ended October 1, 2005, we experienced net sales growth in each of our four segments, driven by strong demand across our end markets as well as our continued efforts to supply new products to existing and new customers. Overall, our net sales to our diversified industrial customers grew 5.9% in the second quarter fiscal 2006 compared to the same period last year. This was principally driven by aftermarket and OEM demand in construction, mining, semiconductor, commercial heavy truck and general industrial applications. Our net sales to aerospace and defense customers grew 28.1% in the second quarter fiscal 2006 compared to the same period last year, driven mainly by commercial and military aerospace aftermarket and OEM demand.

Our Plain Bearing segment achieved net sales of \$27.1 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$4.7 million, or 20.9%, compared to \$22.4 million for the comparable period in the prior year. Net sales to our diversified industrial customers accounted for \$2.5 million of the increase, driven primarily by strong demand in the construction and mining heavy equipment sectors and strong aftermarket demand. The commercial and military aerospace market accounted for \$2.2 million of the increase due to an increase in airframe and aerospace bearing shipments to aircraft manufacturers and continued demand for aftermarket product.

19

Our Roller Bearing segment achieved net sales of \$23.4 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$1.8 million, or 8.3%, compared to \$21.6 million for the comparable period in the prior year. Industrial sales were down \$1.6 million mainly due to loss production time in our facility producing heavy truck product and a volume reduction in our automotive business which represented less than five percent of our overall net sales in fiscal year 2005. The aerospace and defense market accounted for a \$3.4 million increase, driven primarily by increasing commercial build rates and maintenance requirements for military aircraft.

Our Ball Bearing segment achieved net sales of \$11.2 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$2.3 million, or 25.7%, compared to \$8.9 million for the comparable period in the prior year. The increase was driven principally by increased demand from airframe, electro-optical, and satellite and communications applications and our increased penetration of the airframe market. Sales to our customers in the industrial market were flat year over year.

Our Other segment, which is focused mainly on the sale of precision ball screws and machine tool collets, achieved net sales of \$3.6 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$0.2 million, or 5.6%, compared to \$3.4 million for the same period last year. This increase was primarily due to increased sales of our machine tool collets as a result of our increased penetration of the U.S. machine tool collets market and due to increasing overall market demand, both in Europe and the U.S.

*Gross Margin.* Our gross margin was \$20.0 million, or 30.6% of net sales, for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, versus \$15.4 million, or 27.3% of net sales, for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. The increase in our gross margin as a percentage of net sales was primarily the result of an

overall increase in volume, slightly higher prices, and increased manufacturing efficiency.

Selling, General and Administrative. Our SG&A expenses increased by \$7.0 million, or 92.3%, to \$14.6 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to \$7.6 million for the same period in fiscal 2005. The \$7.0 million increase was primarily due to nonrecurring compensation expense of \$5.2 million, stock option compensation expense of \$0.1 million and an increase in personnel necessary to support our increased volume and higher professional service fees. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A was 22.4% for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to 13.5% for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. SG&A, excluding nonrecurring compensation expense of \$5.2 million and stock option compensation expense of \$0.1 million, was 14.3% of net sales for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to 13.5% for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. The increase was primarily due to an increase in personnel, higher professional fees, and additional costs associated with being a public company.

Other, net. Other, net for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 was \$0.3 million compared to \$0.4 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. For the three month period ended October 1, 2005, other, net included an expense of \$0.1 million of non-recurring management fees, \$0.1 million of bad debt expense and \$0.1 million of other expenses. For the three month period ended October 2, 2004, other, net consisted of \$0.1 million of management fees, losses on fixed asset disposals of \$0.2 million, and \$0.1 million of other expenses.

*Operating Income.* Operating income was \$5.1 million, or 7.8% of net sales, for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to \$7.4 million, or 13.1% of net sales, for the three month period ended October 2, 2004. Operating income excluding stock option expense of \$0.1 million, nonrecurring compensation expense of \$5.2 million, and non-recurring management fees of \$0.1 million was \$10.4 million or 15.9% of net sales. Operating income for the Plain Bearing segment was \$7.5 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, or 27.7% of net sales, compared to \$5.4 million for the same period last year, or 24.1% of net sales. Our Roller Bearing segment achieved operating income for the

20

three month period ended October 1, 2005 of \$5.9 million, or 25.3% of net sales, compared to \$3.9 million, or 18.2% of net sales, for the three month period ended October 2, 2004. Our Ball Bearing segment achieved an operating income of \$2.4 million, or 21.5% of net sales, for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, compared to \$1.8 million, or 20.7% of net sales, for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. Our Other segment achieved an operating income of \$0.3 million, or 7.3% of net sales, for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, compared to an operating loss of \$0.1 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. The increase in operating income in each of our segments was driven primarily by an increase in net sales. In addition, our operating income as a percentage of net sales increased for each of our segments primarily as a result of leveraging our fixed cost base over higher net sales.

*Interest Expense*, *net*. Interest expense, net decreased by \$0.4 million to \$4.5 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005, compared to \$4.9 million for the three month period ended October 2, 2004. Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount are recorded as a component of net interest expense. Amortization expenses included in interest expense, net were \$0.2 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to \$0.3 million for the three month period ended October 2, 2004.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt. For the three month period ended October 1, 2005, loss on extinguishment of debt of \$3.8 million included \$1.6 million for non-cash write-off of deferred financing fees and unamortized bond discount associated with retired debt, \$1.3 million of redemption premium associated with the redemption of our 13% discount debentures in September of 2005, \$0.5 million pre-payment fees related to the prepayment of all of the outstanding balance under our second lien term loan in August of 2005, and \$0.4 million in interest expense for the 30 day call period related to the early extinguishment of our 13% discount debentures.

*Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes.* Loss before taxes was \$3.2 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to income before taxes of \$2.5 million for the three month period ended October 2, 2004.

Income (Benefit from) Taxes. Benefit from income taxes for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 was \$1.2 million compared to income taxes of \$0.8 million for the three month period ended October 2, 2004. Our effective benefit for income tax rate for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 was 37.8 % compared to a income tax rate of 32.4% for the three month period ended October 2, 2004. The change in the effective income tax rates from period to period is mostly due to changes in the allocation between domestic and foreign earnings, primarily the result of the loss on early extinguishment of debt and the one-time special cash bonus.

*Net Income (Loss).* Net loss was \$2.0 million for the three month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to net income of \$1.7 million for the three month period ended October 2, 2004.

## $Six\ Month\ Period\ Ended\ October\ 1,\ 2005\ Compared\ to\ Six\ Month\ Period\ Ended\ October\ 2,\ 2004$

Net Sales. Our net sales for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 were \$131.4 million, an increase of \$18.8 million, or 16.7%, compared to \$112.6 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. During the six month period ended October 1, 2005, we experienced net sales growth in each of our four segments, driven by strong demand across our end markets as well as our continued efforts to supply new products to existing and new customers. Overall, our net sales to our diversified industrial customers grew 8.4% in the six month period of fiscal 2006 compared to the same period last year. This was principally driven by aftermarket and OEM demand in construction, mining, semiconductor, commercial heavy truck and general industrial applications. Our net sales to aerospace and defense customers grew 28.7% in the

21

six month period of fiscal 2006 compared to the same period last year, driven mainly by commercial and military aerospace aftermarket and OEM demand.

Our Plain Bearing segment achieved net sales of \$53.6 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$9.7 million, or 21.9%, compared to \$43.9 million for the comparable period in the prior year. Net sales to our diversified industrial customers accounted for \$3.9 million of the increase, driven primarily by strong demand in the construction and mining heavy equipment sectors and strong aftermarket demand. The commercial and military aerospace market accounted for \$5.8 million of the increase due to an increase in airframe and aerospace bearing shipments to aircraft manufacturers and continued demand for aftermarket product.

Our Roller Bearing segment achieved net sales of \$47.8 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$4.2 million, or 9.6%, compared to \$43.6 million for the comparable period in the prior year. \$0.3 million of this increase was attributable to sales to our customers in the industrial market and from strong demand from mining, construction equipment and general industrial applications. The aerospace and defense market accounted for the remaining \$3.9 million of the increase, driven primarily by increasing build rates and maintenance requirements for military aircraft.

Our Ball Bearing segment achieved net sales of \$21.8 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$3.8 million, or 21.1%, compared to \$18.0 million for the comparable period in the prior year. The increase was driven principally by increased demand from airframe, electro-optical, and satellite and communications applications and our increased penetration of the airframe market. Sales to our customers in the industrial market were flat year over year.

Our Other segment, which is focused mainly on the sale of precision ball screws and machine tool collets, achieved net sales of \$8.1 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, an increase of \$1.1 million, or 16.2%, compared to \$7.0 million for the same period last year. This increase was primarily due to increased sales of our machine tool collets as a result of our increased penetration of the U.S. machine tool collets market and due to increasing overall market demand, both in Europe and the U.S.

*Gross Margin.* Our gross margin was \$39.3 million, or 29.9% of net sales, for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, versus \$30.7 million, or 27.2% of net sales, for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. The increase in our gross margin as a percentage of net sales was primarily the result of an overall increase in volume, slightly higher prices, and increased manufacturing efficiency.

Selling, General and Administrative. Our SG&A expenses increased by \$7.9 million, or 51.9%, to \$23.1 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to \$15.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2005. The \$7.9 million increase was primarily due to nonrecurring compensation expense of \$5.2 million, stock option compensation expense of \$0.1 million and an increase in personnel necessary to support our increased volume, higher professional service fees, and additional costs associated with being a public company. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A was 17.6% for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to 13.5% for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. SG&A, excluding nonrecurring compensation expense of \$5.2 million and stock option compensation expense of \$0.1 million, was 13.5% of net sales for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to 13.5% for the comparable period in fiscal 2005.

*Other*, *net*. Other, net for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 was \$0.7 million compared to \$2.2 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. For the six month period ended October 1, 2005, other, net included an expense of \$0.2 million of non-recurring management fees, \$0.2 million of bad debt expense and \$0.3 million of other expenses. For the six month period ended October 2, 2004, other, net

22

consisted of \$0.2 million of management fees, losses on fixed asset disposals of \$1.6 million, and \$0.4 million of other expenses.

Operating Income. Operating income was \$15.5 million, or 11.8% of net sales, for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to \$13.3 million, or 11.8% of net sales, for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. Operating income excluding stock option expense of \$0.1 million, nonrecurring compensation expense of \$5.2 million, and non-recurring management fees of \$0.2 million was \$21.0 million or 16.0% of net sales. Operating income for the Plain Bearing segment was \$14.2 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, or 26.5% of net sales, compared to \$10.9 million for the same period last year, or 24.7% of net sales. Our Roller Bearing segment achieved an operating income for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 of \$11.2 million, or 23.4% of net sales, compared to \$6.9 million, or 15.8% of net sales, for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. Our Ball Bearing segment achieved an operating income of \$4.9 million, or 22.4% of net sales, for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, compared to \$3.2 million, or 17.9% of net sales, for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. Our Other segment achieved an operating income of \$0.8 million, or 10.0% of net sales, for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, compared to \$0.3 million or 3.6% of net sales, for the comparable period in fiscal 2005. The increase in operating income in each of our segments was driven primarily by an increase in net sales. In addition, our operating income as a percentage of net sales increased for each of our segments primarily as a result of leveraging our fixed cost base over higher net sales.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense, net decreased by \$0.4 million to \$9.6 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005, compared to \$10.0 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount are recorded as a component of net interest expense. Amortization expenses included in interest expense, net were \$0.5 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to \$0.7 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt. For the six month period ended October 1, 2005, loss on extinguishment of debt of \$3.8 million included \$1.6 million for non-cash write-off of deferred financing fees and unamortized bond discount associated with retired debt, \$1.3 million of redemption premium associated with the redemption of all of our our 13% discount debentures in September of 2005, \$0.5 million pre-payment fees related to the prepayment of all of the outstanding balance under our second lien term loan in August of 2005, and \$0.4 million in interest expense for the 30 day call period related to the early extinguishment of our 13% discount debentures. For the six month period ended October 2, 2004, loss on extinguishment of debt of \$7.0 million included \$4.3 million for non-cash write-off of deferred financing fees associated with retired debt, \$1.8 million of redemption premium and \$0.9 million in interest expense for the 30 day call period related to the early extinguishment of our \$110.0 million of 9 \$5\mathrm{s}\_8\%\$ senior subordinated notes in July of 2004.

*Income(Loss) Before Income Taxes.* Income before taxes was \$2.1 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to a loss before taxes of \$3.6 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004.

Income(Benefit from) Taxes. Income taxes for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 provided an expense of \$0.7 million compared to a benefit of \$1.5 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. Our effective benefit for income tax rate for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 was 34.5 % compared to an income tax rate of 40.8% for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. The change in the effective income tax rates from period to period is mostly due to changes in the allocation between domestic and foreign earnings, primarily the result of the loss on early extinguishment of debt and the one-time special cash bonus.

*Net Income (Loss).* Net income was \$1.4 million for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 compared to net loss of \$2.2 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004.

### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

### Liquidity

On August 15, 2005, the Company entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Amended Credit Agreement"), among RBCA; the other Credit Parties signatory thereto; General Electric Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation, for itself, as lender, and as agent for the lenders, concurrently with the closing of the Company's initial public offering. Pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company increased its term loan borrowings by approximately \$40.0 million from \$110.0 million under the term loan portion of the Amended Credit Agreement. The Amended Credit Agreement provides a \$55.0 million revolving credit agreement (the "Amended Revolving Credit Facility") and a \$150.0 million term loan (the "Amended Term Loan"). The principal amount of the Amended Term Loan shall be repaid in twenty-five (25) consecutive quarterly installments commencing October 1, 2005. Each loan is secured by a lien against substantially all of the assets of the Company and subjects the Company to standard affirmative and negative covenants, as well as financial leverage tests. As of October 1, 2005, we were in compliance with all such covenants.

The Amended Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points, plus 1.25%; or LIBOR plus 2.50%. The Company has the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Term Loan bears interest at a floating rate of either the higher of the base rate on corporate loans or the federal rate plus 50 basis points, plus 1.50%; or LIBOR plus 2.75%. The Company has the right to elect the applicable interest rate on the Amended Term Loan. As of October 1, 2005, the weighted average interest rate on the outstanding Amended Credit Facility was 6.45%.

Approximately \$20.6 million of the Amended Revolving Credit Facility is being utilized to provide letters of credit to secure RBCA's obligations relating to certain Industrial Development Revenue Bonds and insurance programs. As of October 1, 2005, the Company had the ability to borrow up to an additional \$34.4 million under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility.

The proceeds of the initial public offering and additional term loan borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement were used to redeem outstanding debt. Concurrently with the funding, the Company issued a notice of redemption to the note holders of the 13% Senior Subordinated Discount Debentures due June 15, 2009. The requisite funds, approximately \$40.2 million, were irrevocably put on deposit with the trustee, Bank of New York, for redemption on September 13, 2005. This amount included a redemption premium of \$1.3 million and interest expense for the call period of \$0.4 million. These amounts along with \$0.9 million of unamortized deferred finance fees and debt discount associated with this debt were recorded as a loss on extinguishment of debt. The Company also repaid approximately \$45.5 million on its second lien term loan. This amount included a pre-payment fee of \$0.5 million. These amounts along with \$0.8 million of unamortized deferred finance fees associated with the second lien term loan debt were recorded as a loss on extinguishment of debt. Deferred financing fees of \$1.3 million were capitalized associated with the Amended Credit Agreement.

## Swiss Credit Facility

On December 8, 2003, Schaublin entered into a bank credit facility, or Swiss Credit Facility, with Credit Suisse providing for 10.0 million Swiss Francs, or approximately \$7.7 million, of term loan, or Swiss Term Loan, and up to 2.0 million Swiss Francs, or approximately \$1.5 million, of revolving credit

24

loans and letters of credit, or the Swiss Revolver. The credit agreement for the Swiss Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants regarding the Schaublin financial position and results of operations and other terms customary to such financings. As of October 1, 2005, we were in compliance with all such covenants. On November 8, 2004, we amended the Swiss Credit Facility to increase the Swiss Revolver to 4.0 million Swiss Francs, or approximately \$3.1 million. As of October 1, 2005, \$4.8 million was outstanding under the Swiss Term Loan, and no loans or letters of credit were outstanding under the Swiss Revolver.

Initial Public Offering and Amendment to the Credit Agreement

On August 15, 2005, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Merrill Lynch & Co., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, KeyBanc Capital Markets and Jefferies & Company, Inc., the Company and the selling stockholders sold 10,531,200 shares of the Company's common stock (3,496,684 sold by the selling stockholders). The offering yielded aggregate net proceeds to the Company of \$92.1 million after payment of the underwriting discount and offering expenses. After redemption of the Company's Class C and Class D preferred stock for \$34.6 million, the net proceeds to the Company were \$57.5 million. Immediately prior to the consummation of the initial public offering, all outstanding shares of Class B preferred stock were converted in accordance with their terms into 1,846,396 shares of Class A common stock, 306,298 shares of Class C preferred stock and 240,000 shares of Class D preferred stock. All shares of Class C and Class D preferred stock were redeemed with cash or common stock as described in the subsequent paragraph and all shares of Class A and Class B common stock were reclassified as common stock on a one-for-one basis. In connection with the initial public offering, the Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "Amendment"). The Amendment increased the Company's authorized capital stock to 70,000,000 shares, (i) 60,000,000 of which is common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, and (ii) 10,000,000 of which is preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share.

The proceeds of the offering and additional term loan borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement (as discussed above) were used as follows: (1) to redeem all of the Company's outstanding 13% Discount Debentures by payment to the Bank of New York, as trustee for the holders of debentures, of a total payoff amount of approximately \$40.0 million; (2) to redeem 293,536 shares of Class C Preferred Stock held by Whitney RBCH Investor, LLC ("Whitney") for an aggregate redemption price of \$29.4 million; (3) to redeem 12,762 shares of Class C Preferred Stock held by Dr. Michael Hartnett for an aggregate redemption price of \$1.3 million; (4) to repurchase 230,000 shares of Class D Preferred Stock held by Whitney for an aggregate repurchase price of \$7.7 million, of which \$3.8 million was paid in cash out of the proceeds of the offering and term loan borrowings and the balance of which was paid by issuance of 264,368 shares of Common Stock; (5) to repurchase 10,000 shares of Class D Preferred Stock held by Hartnett for an aggregate repurchase price of \$0.3 million, of which \$0.2 million was paid in cash out of the proceeds of the offering and term loan borrowings, and the balance of which was paid by issuance of 11,495 shares of Common Stock; (6) to repay approximately \$45.5 million of indebtedness under the Company's second lien term loan credit facility, which represented repayment in full of all amounts owing under such facility, plus approximately \$1.4 million in fees and expenses payable to GE Capital and its counsel in connection with such repayment and amendment; (7) to pay approximately \$5.0 million in mandatory prepayments under the

Company's credit facility in connection with the initial public offering; and (8) to pay approximately \$2.7 million in legal, printing, accounting and other miscellaneous expenses payable in connection with the initial public offering.

In addition, the Company paid monitoring fees of approximately \$50,000 and expense reimbursements of approximately \$12,000 pursuant to the Management Agreement with an affiliate of Whitney, and upon such payment the Management Agreement was terminated.

25

On July 15, 2005, we made a cash payment of \$5.2 million to our CEO (see Note 11). We funded this payment with cash on hand and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility.

We believe that after giving effect to our initial public offering and the amendment and restatement of our senior credit facility and the uses of proceeds in connection with the offering, our cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations and capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility and Swiss Revolver will provide adequate cash to fund our working capital, capital expenditures, debt service and other cash requirements for our existing businesses for the foreseeable future. Our ability to meet future working capital, capital expenditure and debt service requirements will depend on our future financial performance, which will be affected by a range of economic, competitive and business factors, particularly interest rates, cyclical changes in our end markets and prices for steel and our ability to pass through price increases on a timely basis, many of which are outside of our control. In addition, future acquisitions could have a significant impact on our liquidity position and our need for additional funds.

From time to time we evaluate our existing facilities and operations and their strategic importance to us. If we determine that a given facility or operation does not have future strategic importance, we may sell, partially or completely, relocate production lines, consolidate or otherwise dispose of those operations. Although we believe our operations would not be materially impaired by such dispositions, relocations or consolidations, we could incur cash or non-cash charges in connection with them.

#### Cash Flow

Six Month Period Ended October 1, 2005 Compared to the Six Month Period Ended October 2, 2004

In the six month period ended October 1, 2005, we generated cash of \$3.3 million from operating activities compared to \$2.6 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. The increase of \$0.7 million was mainly a result of an increase of \$3.5 million in net income, reduced by the net effect of non-cash charges such as deferred taxes, loss on extinguishment of debt, and loss on disposal of assets, plus a change in working capital investment of \$0.2 million

Cash used for investing activities for the six month period ended October 1, 2005 included \$5.9 million relating to capital expenditures compared to \$3.9 million for the six month period ended October 2, 2004. Investing activites also included \$2.6 million relating to the acquisition of the RBC Southwest Products business.

Financing activities provided \$7.4 million in the six month period ended October 1, 2005, primarily the result of remaining proceeds on the initial public offering after repaying indebtedness and payment of fees and expenses associated with the offering.

## **Capital Expenditures**

We expect to make capital expenditures of approximately \$12.0 million during fiscal 2006 in connection with our existing business. We intend to fund our fiscal 2006 capital expenditures principally through existing cash, internally generated funds and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. We generally expect capital expenditures to remain at higher levels than fiscal 2005 as we invest in new manufacturing capability. We may also make substantial additional capital expenditures in connection with acquisitions.

26

## **Obligations and Commitments**

The following table outlines what we regard as our significant contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of October 1, 2005. The table does not represent all of our contractual obligations and commercial commitments that we have entered into.

	Payments Due By Period									
Significant Contractual Obligations		Total		Less than 1 Year		1 to 3 Years		3 to 5 Years		More than 5 Years
						(in thousands)				
Total debt (1)	\$	171,488	\$	3,422	\$	6,082	\$	3,729	\$	158,255
Capital lease obligations		450		187		263		_		_
Operating leases (2)		13,033		2,863		4,727		2,438		3,005
Interest payments (3)		70,075		11,386		22,172		21,579		14,938
Pension and post-retirement benefits (2)		8,293		1,948		3,208		1,354		1,783
Total significant contractual cash obligations	\$	263,339	\$	19,806	\$	36,452	\$	29,100	\$	177,981

- (1) Includes the \$150 million Amended Term Loan and other senior debt consisting of the Swiss Term Loan, industrial revenue bonds and other debt totaling \$21.5 million.
- (2) Operating leases and pension and post-retirement benefits are estimated as unchanged from fiscal year end 2005.
- (3) Interest payments are calculated based on beginning of period debt balances that reflect contractual debt amortization over the term of the instruments and assume a constant LIBOR rate of 3.86%.

#### ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

## **Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk**

We are exposed to market risks, which arise during the normal course of business from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest Rates. We are exposed to market risk from changes in the interest rates on a significant portion of our outstanding indebtedness. Outstanding balances under our Amended Credit Agreement bear interest at a variable rate based on prime (for any day, a floating rate equal to the higher of (1) the rate publicly posted as the base rate posted by at least 75% of the nation's 30 largest banks or (2) the Federal Funds Rate plus 50 basis points per year) or LIBOR (the London inter-bank offered rate for deposits in U.S. dollars for the applicable LIBOR Period) ranging from 30 to 120 days as adjusted each interest period. As of October 1, 2005, based on the aggregate amount of \$150.0 million outstanding under our Amended Term Loan, a 100 basis point change in interest rates would have changed our interest expense by approximately \$1.5 million per year.

We continually evaluate our exposure to interest rate fluctuations and follow established policies and procedures to implement strategies designed to manage the amount of variable rate indebtedness outstanding at any point in time in an effort to mitigate the effect of interest rate fluctuations on our earnings and cash flow. On December 31, 2004, we entered into a Rate Cap Transaction Agreement capping LIBOR at 5.0% on a notional amount of \$50.0 million. This agreement expires on December 31, 2005.

Interest rate fluctuations affect the fair market value of our fixed rate debt, but with respect to such fixed rate instruments, do not impact our earnings or cash flow.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates. As a result of increased sales in Europe, our exposure to risk associated with fluctuating currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar, the Euro and the Swiss Franc has increased. Our Swiss operations utilize the Swiss franc as the functional currency and our French operations utilize the Euro as the functional currency. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in earnings. Approximately 12% of our net sales were denominated in foreign currencies for fiscal 2005. We expect that this proportion is likely to increase as we seek to increase our penetration of foreign markets, particularly within the aerospace and defense markets. Foreign currency transaction exposure arises primarily from the transfer of foreign currency from one subsidiary to another within the group, and to foreign currency denominated trade receivables. Unrealized currency translation gains and losses are recognized upon translation of the foreign subsidiaries' balance sheets to U.S. dollars. Because our financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies have had, and will continue to have, an impact on our earnings. We currently do not have exchange rate hedges in place to reduce the risk of an adverse currency exchange movement. Although currency fluctuations have not had a material impact on our financial performance in the past, such fluctuations may materially affect our financial performance in the future. The impact of future exchange rate fluctuations on our results of operations cannot be accurately predicted.

28

## ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act")) as of October 1, 2005. Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of October 1, 2005, our disclosure controls and procedures were (1) designed to ensure that material information relating to our Company, is made known to the chief executive officer and chief financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report was being prepared, and (2) effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by our Company in the reports that we file or submit, or would have filed or submitted, under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the applicable rules and forms.

## **Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting**

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the three month period ended October 1, 2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act).

## **Limitation on Effectiveness of Controls**

It should be noted that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system are met. The design of any control system is based, in part, upon the benefits of the control system relative to its costs. Control systems can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. In addition, over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of these and other inherent limitations of control systems, there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.

29

## **PART II - OTHER INFORMATION**

## ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in litigation and administrative proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of our business. We do not believe that any litigation or proceeding in which we are currently involved, either individually or in the aggregate, is likely to have a material adverse effect on our

business, financial condition, operating results, cash flow or prospects.

## ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

### **Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities**

On August 10, 2005, we granted options pursuant to our 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan to purchase an aggregate of 683,502 shares of our Common Stock to Michael J. Hartnett at an exercise price of \$14.50 per share.

The issuances of the securities described in paragraph 1 were exempt from registration under the Securities Act under Rule 701, as transactions pursuant to compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as provided under such Rule 701. The recipients of such options and common stock were our employees and directors, who received the securities under our compensatory benefit plans or a contract relating to compensation. Appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates issued in such transactions. All recipients either received adequate information from us or had adequate access, through their employment with us or otherwise, to information about us.

30

### ITEM 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

### ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.

### ITEM 5. Other Information

Not applicable.

### ITEM 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
31.01	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
31.02	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
32.01	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b).*
32.02	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b).*

This certification accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

31

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

**RBC** Bearings Incorporated

/s/ Dr. Michael J. Hartnett

By: Dr. Michael J. Hartnett Its: Chief Executive Officer

**RBC** Bearings Incorporated

/s/ Daniel A. Bergeron

By: Daniel A. Bergeron Its: Chief Financial Officer

Dated: November 15, 2005

32

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
31.01	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
31.02	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
32.01	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b).*
32.02	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b).*

<sup>\*</sup> This certification accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

## CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Dr. Michael J. Hartnett, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of RBC Bearings Incorporated;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
  - a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 15, 2005 By: /s/ Dr. Michael J. Hartnett

Dr. Michael J. Hartnett

President and Chief Executive Officer

## CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Daniel A. Bergeron, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of RBC Bearings Incorporated;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
  - a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 15, 2005 By: /s/ Daniel A. Bergeron

Daniel A. Bergeron Chief Financial Officer

# CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Dr. Michael J. Hartnett, the President and Chief Executive Officer of RBC Bearings Incorporated (the "Company"), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, hereby certifies that:

- (i) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended October 1, 2005 of the Company (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
- (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: November 15, 2005

/s/ Dr. Michael J. Hartnett

Dr. Michael J. Hartnett President and Chief Executive Officer

# CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Daniel A. Bergeron, Chief Financial Officer, of RBC Bearings Incorporated (the "Company"), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, hereby certifies:

- (i) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended October 1, 2005 of the Company (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: November 15, 2005

/s/ Daniel A. Bergeron
Daniel A. Bergeron

Chief Financial Officer